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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA 
 

             
AVP PROPERTIES, LLC,    :  
individually and on behalf of all others similarly : No. 
situated,      : 
       : CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT  
     Plaintiff, :  
       :  
 v.      : JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
       : 
BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION; : 
BARCLAYS BANK PLC; CITIBANK, NA; :  
CREDIT SUISSE GROUP, AG; DEUTSCHE : 
BANK AG; HSBC HOLDINGS PLC;  : 
J.P. MORGAN CHASE & CO.; LLOYDS : 
BANKING GROUP PLC; ROYAL BANK : 
OF SCOTLAND GROUP PLC;    : 
THE NORINCHUKIN BANK; UBS AG;  : 
and WESTLB AG;     : 
       : 
     Defendants. : 
       : 
 

Plaintiff, AVP Properties, LLC, on behalf of itself and all others similarly situated, 

by and through its attorneys, the undersigned, bring this action against the Defendants 

named herein.  Plaintiff’s allegations are based upon personal knowledge as to itself and 

to information obtained during the course of its attorneys’ investigation, and upon 

information and belief as to all other matters, and in connection therewith Plaintiff alleges 

as follows:  
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NATURE OF THE CASE 

 
1. Plaintiff brings this class action against Defendants pursuant to Section 1 of 

the Sherman Antitrust Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1, the Commodity Exchange Act, 7 U.S.C. § 1, et 

seq. (the “CEA”), and common law.   

2. Defendants are multinational banks and are contributing members of the 

British Bankers’ Association’s U.S. Dollar Libor panel, which sets the Libor rate based 

on Defendants’ subjective responses.  The London Interbank Offered Rate (the “Libor”) 

is a daily reference rate based on the interest rates at which banks report that they can 

borrow unsecured funds from other banks in the London wholesale money market.  The 

Libor is the primary benchmark for short-term interest rates and is the most important 

rate calculation globally, with trillions of dollars of loans and other financial products 

directly tied to it.  

3.  Plaintiff alleges Defendants intentionally artificially suppressed Libor rates 

resulting in damages to Plaintiff and the proposed Class when the value of their Exchange 

Traded Libor-Based Derivatives suffered because of inaccurate Libor presentations by 

Defendants.  The submission of false reports, like Defendants’ submission of false Libor 

rates, is a traditional means of manipulation.   

4. Defendants had at least two motives to manipulate Libor rates.  First, in 

times of economic uncertainty, such as during the Class Period, Defendants did not want 

to disclose the true risk premium the market attached to them.  If a bank’s true borrowing 

costs were significantly higher than other bank’s costs, it would reveal to the market that 
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the bank had financial issues.  Defendants had a collective desire to avoid the market 

identifying them as risky.  Second, the widespread use of the Libor as the baseline rate 

for lending gives a bank that is a “net borrower” at Libor-based rates an incentive to 

understate the Libor to increase its own profitability.   

5. The proposed Class consists of all persons and entities that purchased or 

sold Exchange Traded Libor-Based Derivatives during the period from January 1, 2006, 

through December 31, 2009.  Exchange Traded Libor-Based Derivatives include: 

Chicago Mercantile Exchange (“CME”) 1-month and 3-month Eurodollar futures and 

options contracts; Chicago Board of Trade (“CBOT”) mini-sized Eurodollar futures and 

options contracts; and CBOT 5-year, 7-year, 10-year and 30-year Interest Rate Swap 

futures and options contracts. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

6. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 1 of the 

Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1, Sections 4 and 16 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 15 and 

26, Section 22 of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 25, and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1337. 

7. Venue is appropriate in this District pursuant to Sections 4, 12, and 16 of 

the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 15, 22 and 26, Section 22 of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 25(c) 

and 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), (c) and (d) because during the Class Period the Defendants 

could be found, resided or transacted business in this District, and because a substantial 

portion of the affected interstate commerce described herein was carried out in this 

District.  
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8. The activities of the Defendants and their co-conspirators, as described 

herein, were within the flow of, were intended to, and did have direct, substantial and 

reasonably foreseeable effects on the foreign and interstate commerce of the United 

States. 

THE PARTIES 

Plaintiff 

9. Plaintiff AVP Properties, LLC is a North Dakota limited liability company 

with its principal place of business in Fargo, North Dakota.  AVP Properties, LLC 

purchased and sold Exchange Traded Libor-based Derivatives during the Class Period, 

and was thereby damaged by Defendants’ conduct as alleged herein. 

Defendants  

10. Defendant Bank of America Corporation (“Bank of America”) is a 

Delaware Corporation headquartered in Charlotte, North Carolina.  At all relevant times, 

Bank of America was a contributing member of the British Bankers’ Association’s U.S. 

Dollar Libor panel. 

11. Defendant Barclays Bank plc (“Barclays”) is a United Kingdom public 

limited company headquartered in London, England.  At all relevant times, Barclays was 

a contributing member of the British Bankers’ Association’s U.S. Dollar Libor panel. 

12. Defendant Citibank NA (“Citibank”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of 

Citigroup, Inc., a Delaware corporation headquartered in New York, New York.  At all 

relevant times, Citibank was a contributing member of the British Bankers’ Association’s 

U.S. Dollar Libor panel. 
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13. Defendant Credit Suisse Group AG (“Credit Suisse”) is a company formed 

under the laws of Switzerland headquartered in Zurich, Switzerland.  At all relevant 

times, Credit Suisse was a contributing member of the British Bankers’Association’s U.S. 

Dollar Libor panel. 

14. Defendant Deutsche Bank AG (“Deutsche Bank”) is a German financial 

services company headquartered in Frankfurt, Germany.  At all relevant times, Deutsche 

Bank was a contributing member of the British Bankers’ Association’s U.S. Dollar Libor 

panel. 

15. Defendant HSBC Holdings plc (“HSBC”) is a United Kingdom public 

limited company headquartered in London, England.   At all relevant times, HSBC was a 

contributing member of the British Bankers’ Association’s U.S. Dollar Libor panel. 

16. Defendant J.P. Morgan Chase & Co. (“J.P. Morgan”) is a financial holding 

company formed under the laws of Delaware headquartered in New York, New York.  At 

all relevant times, J.P. Morgan was a contributing member of the British Bankers’ 

Association’s U.S. Dollar Libor panel. 

17. Defendant Lloyds Banking Group plc (“Lloyds”) is a United Kingdom 

public limited company headquartered in London, England.  Lloyds was formed in 2009 

through the acquisition of HBOS plc (“HBOS”) by Lloyds TSB Bank plc (“Lloyds 

TSB”).  At all relevant times, both HBOS and Lloyds TSB were contributing members of 

the British Bankers’ Association’s U.S. Dollar Libor panel. 

18. Defendant Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc (“Royal Bank of Scotland”) 

is a United Kingdom public limited company headquartered in Edinburgh, Scotland.  At 
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all relevant times, Royal Bank of Scotland was a contributing member of the British 

Bankers’ Association’s U.S. Dollar Libor panel. 

19. Defendant The Norinchukin Bank is a Japan cooperative bank 

headquartered in Tokyo, Japan.  At all relevant times, The Norinchukin Bank was a 

contributing member of the British Bankers’ Association’s U.S. Dollar Libor panel. 

20. Defendant UBS AG (“UBS”) is a Swiss company based in Basel and 

Zurich, Switzerland.  At all relevant times, UBS was a contributing member of the British 

Bankers’ Association’s U.S. Dollar Libor panel. 

21. Defendant WestLB AG (“WestLB”) is a German joint stock company 

headquartered in Dusseldorf, Germany.  At all relevant times, WestLB was a contributing 

member of the British Bankers’ Association’s U.S. Dollar Libor panel. 

BACKGROUND 

The London Interbank Offered Rate  

22. The London Interbank Offered Rate (the “Libor”) is a daily reference rate 

based on the interest rates at which banks borrow unsecured funds from other banks in 

the London wholesale money market.  In other words, it is a measure of how much banks 

charge each other for loans.  The higher the credit risk for a Libor bank, the higher the 

rate that bank would have to pay for borrowed funds, and thus the higher the Libor rate.  

In this Complaint, reference to the Libor specifically means the Libor as a rate of 

reference for the U.S. dollar.     

23. The Libor was developed in the 1980s because banks were looking for a 

benchmark rate that would allow them to set rates on loans that would minimize the risks 
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to banks of changing market interest rates.  By pegging lending rates to the Libor, which 

is supposed to represent the rate at which banks themselves could borrow money, banks 

sought to guarantee that the rates they charge their customers would never fall below 

their own cost of borrowing money. 

24. The Libor is an important barometer of market interest rates and the health 

of the financial system.  The Libor is used as a reference rate for financial instruments 

such as forward rate agreements, interest rate swaps, variable rate mortgages, and 

currencies (including the U.S. dollar), among other things, and therefore provides a basis 

for some of the world’s most liquid and active interest-rate markets.   

25. The Libor is the primary benchmark for short-term interest rates globally.  

The British Bankers’ Association (the “BBA”) estimates that $10 trillion of loans and 

$350 trillion of swaps alone are indexed to the Libor.  

26. The BBA, according to its own website, is the “leading trade association for 

the UK banking and financial services sector . . . speak[ing] for over 200 member banks 

from 60 countries on the full range of UK and international banking issues.”   The BBA’s 

most important function is the daily setting of the Libor. 

27. The Libor is calculated and published by Reuters on behalf of the BBA 

after 11:00 a.m. each day UK time for ten major currencies.  For the U.S. dollar-

denominated Libor, the BBA computes the Libor daily according to a survey it 

administers to a fixed panel of sixteen large banks, including Defendants herein.  This 

survey asks each of the banks the following question: 

At what rate could you borrow funds, were you to do so by 
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asking for and then accepting inter-bank offers in a reasonable 
market size just prior to 11 a.m. London time? 

 
This definition is amplified as follows:  
  

a. The rate at which each bank submits must be formed from that 

bank’s perception of its cost of funds in the interbank market.  

b. Contributions must represent rates formed in the London Money 

Market and not elsewhere.  

c. Contributions must be for the currency concerned, not the cost of 

producing one currency by borrowing in another currency and 

accessing the required currency via the foreign exchange markets.  

d. The rates must be submitted by members of staff at a bank with 

primary responsibility for management of a bank’s case, rather than 

a bank’s derivative book.  

e. The definition of “funds” is unsecured interbank cash or cash raised 

through primary issuance of interbank Certificates of Deposit.  

28. The four highest and the four lowest rates submitted by the panel banks are 

excluded, and the average of the remaining eight rates determines that day’s Libor rate.  

No single bank alone could manipulate the Libor.    

29. The Libor rate is a benchmark rather than a tradable rate.  The actual rate at 

which banks will lend to one another continues to vary throughout the day.  The Libor 

therefore depends on the integrity of the contributor banks on the panel for its reporting 

accuracy.   
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30. It is important to note that the survey asks at what rate the banks could 

borrow money, not at what rates they have borrowed money, thus injecting subjectivity 

and speculation into this important process.  As Credit Suisse interest rate strategist 

William Porter was quoted as stating, “There’s no underlying transaction actually done at 

Libor, so its inherently subjective, and yet it fixes the interest rates on a large proportion 

of the world’s interest-rate contracts.”1 

Derivative Contracts Based on the Libor 

31. According to the BBA, “the objectivity and accuracy of the [Libor] rates 

allowed derivatives to be created based on the data as a reference, and this has flourished 

to become an enormously successful cornerstone of business transacted in London and 

worldwide.”   

32. The integrity of the Libor allows many derivative products to price based 

on the Libor.  To the extent that the Libor is mispriced, these derivatives are also 

mispriced.  

33. Both the Chicago Mercantile Exchange (“CME”) and the Chicago Board of 

Trade (“CBOT”) have been designated as contract markets by the Commodities and 

Futures Trading Commission (“CFTC”) pursuant to the Commodities Exchange Act 

(“CEA”).  In 2007, the CBOT and CME merged to form the CME Group.  Derivative 

contracts based on the Libor are traded in an open outcry form in Chicago and 

electronically on the CME’s GLOBEX platform.  

                                                   
1 Taylor, “Libor Credibility Questioned as Credit Crunch Deepens,” The Telegraph, April 
17, 2008.   

CASE 0:11-cv-01901-PAM -TNL   Document 1    Filed 07/13/11   Page 9 of 33



10 
 

34. Derivative securities, commonly known as “derivatives”, are an important 

component of the financial markets.  Derivatives are securities whose prices are 

determined by, or “derive from”, the prices of other securities or financial indexes. 

Options and forward contracts, which include futures and swaps, are two types of 

derivatives. The value of certain options, futures and swaps are determined, at least in 

part, by the Libor rate published by the BBA. 

35.  Options are derivative contracts that give the holder of the option the right 

to either purchase a commodity, such as the Eurodollar, at a particular price (call option) 

or to sell a commodity at a particular price (put option) for a particular period of time. 

36.  A futures contract is an agreement to buy or sell a commodity, such as the 

Eurodollar, at a date in the future.  The primary difference between futures and options is 

that while the option holder is not compelled to buy or sell, the holder of a futures 

contract must buy or sell the asset at the close of the time period. 

37.  Swaps are a particular type of forward contract that allow the holder to 

exchange cash flows related to one instrument for the cash flows related to another 

instrument for a particular period of time. For example, if a person thought that interest 

rates might rise in the future, he would enter into a swap that would give him the cash 

flows related to a variable bond while he would agree to pay the cash flows related to a 

fixed-rate bond. Thus, changes to the Libor rate are a key determinant in whether such a 

swap is profitable or unprofitable for the investor. 

38. The world’s most actively exchange traded Libor-based derivatives 

(futures, options and swap contracts) are traded on the CME and CBOT by open-outcry 

CASE 0:11-cv-01901-PAM -TNL   Document 1    Filed 07/13/11   Page 10 of 33



11 
 

on trading floors in Chicago, Illinois, and also on the CME’s GLOBEX electronic trading 

platform.   

39. The CME and CBOT, both headquartered in Chicago, are the largest and 

most diverse interest rate financial futures, options, and swaps exchanges in the world.  

CME and CBOT trade more short-term interest rate futures and options contracts than 

any other exchange in the world.   

40. By far, the most active and economically important exchange traded Libor-

based derivative is the CME’s 3-Month Eurodollar futures contract, which is the most 

actively traded futures contract in the world.  Eurodollars are U.S. dollars deposited in 

commercial banks outside the United States.  Eurodollar futures prices are meant to 

reflect market expectations for interest rates on Eurodollar deposits for specific dates in 

the future.   

41. Other significant exchange traded Libor-based derivatives include the CME 

1-Month Libor futures contract, the mini-sized Eurodollar futures contract, and the 

CBOT 5-Year, 7-Year, 10-Year, and 30-Year Interest Rate Swap futures contracts.  

42. Defendants’ manipulation of the Libor has had a direct and foreseeable 

consequence on Exchange Traded Libor-Based Derivatives.  For example, the CME’s 3-

month Eurodollar contracts are based on three-month U.S. dollar Libor rates as reported 

by Defendants to the BBA.  If the rates that Defendants reported for the Libor were 

artificially low, then the settlement price for Eurodollar futures would be artificially high 

because the underlying value of the Eurodollar contract is inversely related to the interest 

rate.  Likewise, traders that did not hold their Eurodollar contracts until settlement were 
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also affected by the Libor mispricing because the Eurodollar futures contracts trade based 

on what the Libor is expected to be in the future.  To the extent that the Libor is 

mispriced in the present, expectations on what the Libor will be in the future will also be 

skewed.   

43. Likewise, swap holders are impacted if Libor rates are manipulated.  When 

Libor rates are suppressed, parties receiving payments that move in sync with Libor 

receive less than they otherwise would absent the manipulation of the Libor.  

DEFENDANTS’ UNLAWFUL MANIPULATION OF LIBOR RATES 

44. Beginning at least as early as 2006 and extending through at least 2009, 

Defendants individually artificially suppressed, and collectively agreed to artificially 

suppress, the Libor rate.    

45. Defendants had both the motive and the opportunity to understate the Libor 

by providing misleading information about their true borrowing costs to the BBA, which, 

in turn, manipulated the Libor rate artificially downward. 

46. An examination of the Libor rates during the financial crisis of 2008 is 

particularly telling.  Since the financial markets’ upheaval in August 2007, the Libor has 

diverged from many of its historical relationships causing market observers to question 

its proper functioning.    

47. In the early months of 2008, U.S. dollar Libor rates submitted by 

contributor banks did not vary markedly, nor did they increase or decrease sharply.  This 

is in stark contrast to what would be expected in a traditional, non-conspiratorial market 

during a time of great economic uncertainty.  During times of severe financial 

CASE 0:11-cv-01901-PAM -TNL   Document 1    Filed 07/13/11   Page 12 of 33



13 
 

uncertainty, one would expect banks to be reluctant to lend to one another on an 

unsecured basis without receiving a higher risk premium.  Thus, in an untainted market, 

the Libor rates should have increased significantly during this period.  However, from 

January 14, 2008 through April 16, 2008, the Libor was actually understated by at least 

20 basis points.2   

48. Reliable indicators of a bank’s risk, unlike the Libor, did show the higher 

rates that one would expect in an untainted market during this time.   

49. In 2008, the Federal Reserve auctioned off $50 billion in one-month loans 

to banks for an average annualized interest rate of 2.82 to 0.1 percentage points higher 

than the comparable Libor rate.  If the Libor rate was not artificially manipulated down, 

one would expect the Libor rates to be higher than the Federal Reserve loan rates because 

the Federal Reserve loans required the banks to put up collateral whereas the Libor rates 

are unsecured and thus more risky. 

50. A comparison of Defendants’ Libor rates to the rates suggested by the 

credit default market further illustrates the Defendants’ artificial suppression of Libor 

rates.  For example, on average the rates that the following Defendants said they could 

                                                   
2 Hartheiser and Spieser, “Libor Rate and Financial Crisis: Has the Libor Rate Been 
Manipulated?”, available at http://events.em-
lyon.com/ressources/evenements/documents/cefra/Spieser09-
LiborRateAndFinancialCrisisHasTheLiborRateBeenManipulated.pdf.  A basis point or 
“bps” is 1/100 of one percent.  In their paper, Hartheiser and Spieser set forth various 
methods of calculation of what an accurate Libor should have been, based upon various 
regression models and forecasts of Libor using Treasury Bills, the Repo rate and other 
similar measures.  This understatement of Libor can only be explained by a cartel of 
Defendants determined to understate Libor.    
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borrow dollars for three months (i.e., their Libor rates) were markedly lower than the rate 

calculated using default-insurance data: Citibank’s Libor rate was 0.87 percentage points 

lower; WestLB’s was 0.7 percentage points lower; HBOS’s was 0.57 percentage points 

lower; J.P. Morgan’s was 0.43 percentage points lower; and UBS’s was 0.42 percentage 

points lower.  Defendants Barclays, Credit Suisse, Deutsche Bank, HSBC, Lloyds, and 

Royal Bank of Scotland also differed from their expected credit default market rates by 

approximately 0.3 percentage points.   

51. Since Libor’s inception in 1984, Libor has been 6 to 12 basis points higher 

than the Eurodollar Bid Rate – a market rate that banks bid in the market for dollar 

deposits.3  By mid-2007, this relationship had inverted.   Absent manipulation, it makes 

no economic sense for the Eurodollar Bid Rate, the rate banks actually pay for deposits, 

to be higher than the Libor rate, what Defendants claim they charge each other to lend 

money.   

52. In addition, because during this financial crisis different banks were 

experiencing different levels of stress, the banks should have been receiving significantly 

different borrowing rates.  For example, the financial conditions of Defendants steadily 

diverged from one another depending from one another depending on their relative 

exposures to (a) home mortgage defaults, (b) the particular portfolio of home mortgages 

held by a bank, (c) borrowers or finance companies dependent upon home mortgage 

business or consumer credit, (d) one another, and (e) dramatically worsening areas of the 

                                                   
3 For example, if it costs banks 3% to attract deposits (i.e., the Eurodollar Bid Rate), 
economics suggest that the rate at which banks would offer to loan that money to other 
banks (i.e., the Libor) would be 3.06% to 3.12%. 
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economy in which loans had been made based upon inadequate collateral and unrealistic 

income support for the credit extended.  In such an environment, the variation between 

the rates reported by Defendants should have increased in competitive market conditions.  

However, these variations among Defendants financial conditions were not reflected in 

the Libor rates reported by Defendants.       

53. In May 2008, the Wall Street Journal ran an article that examined the 

borrowing costs reported to the BBA by Defendants from January through April 2008.  

During this period the banks reported virtually identical borrowing costs despite the fact 

that certain of the banks were in extreme financial distress as compared to some of the 

more stable banks.   Because the riskiness of the bank is an important factor in 

determining the rate that the bank can obtain loans, it is simply unbelievable that these 

reported borrowing costs were accurate.  For example, the three-month borrowing rates 

reported by Defendants during the first four months of 2008 remained, on the average, 

within a range of 0.06 of a percentage point.   Stanford professor Darrell Duffie was 

quoted in the article as saying that these reported rates are “far too similar to be 

believed.”4  

54. The money market committee of the Bank of England also raised questions 

about the believability of the Libor during the Class Period.  In November of 2007, 

minutes of a meeting of this committee disclosed that “several group members thought 

that Libor fixings had been lower than actual traded interbank rates through the period of 

                                                   
4 Mollenkamp and Whitehouse, “Study Casts Doubt on Key Rate,” Wall Street Journal 
(May 29, 2008), p. A1. 
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stress.”  The committee’s April 3, 2008 minutes stated that “U.S. Dollar Libor rates had 

at times appeared lower than actual traded interbank rates.”  Although the BBA and at 

least some Defendants were members of this committee, the BBA later announced that 

the Libor continued to be reliable even in times of financial crisis.  The BBA’s conduct 

served to aid Defendants in fraudulently concealing their conduct.   

55.  Finally, after being appraised of numerous complaints about the veracity of 

the Libor, the BBA stepped in on April 16, 2008, and warned member banks that anyone 

found misquoting rates would be removed from the survey.  Over the next two days, the 

three month Libor rose 18 basis points, the largest percentage increase since the market 

turmoil began in August 2007. 

56.  On April 16, 2008, the Wall Street Journal reported that an interest 

rate strategist at Defendant Citibank had admitted that the Libor was over stated by as 

much as 30 basis points: 

  In a recent research report on potential problems with LIBOR, 
  Scott Peng, an interest-rate strategist at Citigroup, Inc. in New 
  York, wrote that “the long term psychological and economic 
  impacts this could have on the financial markets are 
  incalculable.” Mr. Peng estimates that if banks provided 
  accurate data about their borrowing costs, three-month LIBOR 
  would be higher by as much as 0.3 percentage points. 

This is a remarkable admission on behalf of a Citigroup interest rate strategist, 

particularly given the fact that Citibank was among the lowest quotes submitted to the 

BBA a vast majority of the time during the Class Period.  According to the Wall Street 

Journal, the BBA complained to Citibank and asked that the report be withdrawn.   
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57. The day after the Wall Street Journal article ran there was a sudden jump in 

dollar-denominated Libor.  The benchmark dollar Libor rate for three-month borrowing 

hit 2.8175%, or about .08 percentage points more than the rate set the day before.  The 

highest quote of the morning, 2.86%, was submitted by Defendant HBOS (which was 

acquired by Defendant Lloyds in 2009).  This was an increase of 0.10 percentage points 

from the day prior.  Defendant HSBC reported a rate of 2.85%, an increase of 0.12 

percentage points from the day prior, and Defendant Bank of America submitted the 

lowest rate of 2.77%, an increase of 0.02% from the day prior.  Within two days of the 

Wall Street Journal article, the three-month dollar Libor rose by 16 basis points.  There 

was no corresponding change in Defendants’ operating costs or fundamentals for interest 

rates.    

58. These sudden jumps in reported Libor rates also came after a decision by 

the BBA to speed up an inquiry into the daily borrowing rates that banks provide to 

establish the Libor rate.  The BBA’s inquiry was in response to concerns among bankers 

and the financial media that banks were not reporting the high rates they were paying for 

short-term loans for fear of appearing desperate for cash.   

59. At the same time Libor rates were surging, other lending rates for other 

currencies fell or remained relatively flat – a sign that the dollar Libor rate was 

susceptible to manipulation.   

60. In a note to clients after the Libor rates surged in mid-April 2008, UBS 

strategist William O’Donnell suggested that banks were responding to the heightened 

scrutiny, saying that the BBA’s announcement of its inquiry was an attempt “to bring 
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publicly posted rates back into line with the shadow interbank money rate market.”  

William Porter, credit strategist at Credit Suisse, said he believed the three-month dollar 

rate is 0.4 percentage points below where it should be.  Scott Peng, a Citigroup Inc. 

analyst said that the Libor understated banks’ true borrowing costs by as much as 0.3 

percentage points.    

61. On May 29, 2008, Bloomberg News reported that a strategist at Defendant 

Barclay’s also admitted that banks “routinely” misstated borrowing costs to the BBA: 

  Banks routinely misstated borrowing costs to the British 
  Bankers’ Association to avoid the perception they faced 
  difficulty raising funds as credit markets seized up, said Tim 
  Bond, a strategist at Barclays Capital. 
 

 “The rates the banks were posting to BBA became a 
little bit divorced from reality,” Bond, head of asset-
allocation research in London said in a Bloomberg 
Television interview.  “We had one week in September 
where our treasurer, who takes his responsibilities pretty 
seriously, said: ‘right, I’ve had enough of this, I’m 
going to quote the right rates.’  All we got for our pains 
was a series of media articles saying that we were 
having difficulty financing.”  Also according to the 
news article, Barclays Plc, the U.K.’s third-biggest bank 
and parent of Barclays Capital, quoted three-month 
dollar rates to the BBA that averaged 7 basis points 
more than those of their peers in the first week of 
September.  Barclays dropped 9.1 percent on the 
London Stock Exchange that week, compared with 5.5 
percent decline in the 59-member Bloomberg Europe 
Banks and Financial Services Index.  “Other banks tried 
to push their head above the parapet on occasions as 
well, but with every attempt you were met with a lot of 
rumor and innuendo,” Bond said in the interview.  “It 
wasn’t a very easy environment.” 
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 This article continued by describing how Defendant UBS submitted rates that 

were highly implausible in light of its financial troubles: 

  As well as varying from member to member, rates show little 
  correlation to banks’ costs or insuring debt from default. UBS 
  AG, whose default-insurance costs rose 919 percent between 
  July 2 and April 15 as it racked up $38 billion of writedowns and 
  losses, quoted dollar-borrowing costs that were lower than its 
  rivals on 85 percent of the days during that period, Bloomberg 
  data shows. 

62. Also on May 29, 2008, the Wall Street Journal reported that its 

investigation had concluded that the Libor had been materially understated by improper 

submissions made to the BBA by the Defendants: 

  The Journal analysis indicates that Citigroup, Inc., WestLB, 
  HBOS PLC, J.P. Morgan Chase & Co. and UBS AG are among 
  the banks that have been reporting significantly lower borrowing 
  costs for the London interbank offered rate, or Libor, than what 
  another market measure suggests they should be. 

The Journal’s analysis reported that Defendant Citigroup’s submissions to the BBA were 

87 basis points lower than the rate should have been, based upon its calculations using 

default-insurance market data as a basis for its calculations.   Likewise, Defendant 

WestLB’s submissions averaged 70 basis points lower than the Journal’s calculations 

suggested were accurate, and Defendants HBOS, J.P. Morgan and UBS’ submissions 

were between 42 and 57 basis points lower. 

63. When lending money at Libor-based rates, Defendants often protected 

themselves from their artificially suppressed Libor rates by including “floor” rates on 

their loans which set the minimum interest rate Defendants would receive at a point that 
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was higher than the actual, suppressed Libor rate.  The use of these “floor” rates 

increased throughout the Class Period.   

64. There are at least a couple of reasons that a bank might wish to misreport 

its borrowing costs to the BBA to understate its true borrowing costs.  First, in times of 

economic uncertainty, a bank might have the incentive to under-report its true borrowing 

cost in order to appear more financially robust than it actually is.  If the bank’s true 

borrowing costs were significantly higher than other banks, it would reveal to the market 

that the bank had financial troubles.  Defendants had a collective desire to avoid the 

market identifying them as risky.  On June 2, 2008, The Financial Times reported that “. . 

. the rate of borrowing in Libor has lagged behind other market-based measures of 

unsecured funding used by the vast majority of financial institutions.  This has aroused 

suspicions that the small group of banks which supply the BBA with Libor quotes have 

understated true borrowing rates so as not to fan fears (that) they have funding 

problems.”   

65. Second, the widespread use of the Libor as the baseline rate for lending 

gives a bank that is a “net borrower” at Libor-based rates (i.e., a bank that has borrowed 

more money indexed to the Libor than it has loaned at Libor-related rates), an incentive 

to understate the Libor to increase its own profitability.  Even a small unhedged exposure 

on the Libor can generate large incentives to alter the overall Libor rate.  As one study 

points out,  

If J.P. Morgan, for example, had a swap position with just a 1% net 
exposure to the Libor in the fourth quarter of 2008, then its costs on its 
contracts would be proportional to $540 billion.  If it was to succeed in 
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modifying the Libor by 25 basis points in a quarter it would make 1/4 * 540 
* 0.25 = 0.337 or $337 million in that quarter.  If it had a 10 percent net 
exposure it could make $3.37 billion.5     
 

66. Regulators are currently investigating Defendant Barclays, as well as other 

Defendants, for piercing the wall between derivative trading and treasury functions 

(through which the Libor would normally be reported).  To pierce this wall would be in 

violation of the dictates of the BBA, which requires that banks separate their Libor 

reporting functions from derivative trading.  A bank may be tempted to pierce this veil in 

order to take advantage of reported Libor rates in Libor-based derivatives trading.   

67. Defendants and/or their affiliates are registered swap dealers or major swap 

participants as those terms are used in the CEA.  Defendants had the motive and ability to 

use the information that they had about their reported Libor rates to trade advantageously 

in the Libor-based derivative markets, including the CME.  

68. In a report by economists from the Bank of International Settlements, it was 

suggested that the banks might have an incentive to provide false rates to profit from 

derivative transactions. The report stated that despite some protections, Libor rates can 

still “be manipulated if contributor banks collude or if a sufficient number change their 

behavior.”   

69. Defendants had the opportunity to collude.  When posting rates to the BBA, 

the contributing banks’ traders were able to phone brokers at firms such as Tullett Prebon 

PLC, ICAP PLC, and Compagnie Financiere Tradition to get estimates of where the 

                                                   
5 Connan Snider and Thomas Youle, “Does LIBOR reflect banks’ borrowing costs?, Apr. 
2, 2010, available at http://ssrn.com/abstract=1569603.   
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brokers perceived the loan market to be.  Defendants also had many direct 

communications between and among themselves.  It is through such direct and indirect 

communications, among others, that Defendants were and are able to communicate their 

intent to report a given Libor rate.    

70. Defendants’ individually-submitted interest rate information was published 

each day together with Reuters’ calculation of Libor.  Because the daily Libor fixing 

allowed each Defendant to see what each other Defendant was reporting, Defendants 

were readily able to monitor each others’ reports and thereby had the means to enforce 

their agreement and to keep their reported rates closely in line with one another.  

GOVERNMENT INVESTIGATIONS 

71. Governmental agencies in the U.S. and abroad, including the Securities and 

Exchange Commission, the U.S. Department of Justice, the Commodity Futures Trading 

Commission, the Financial Services Authority in the United Kingdom, and the Japanese 

Financial Supervisory Agency are investigating whether Defendants manipulated the 

Libor rate through their reporting practices from 2006 through 2009.   

72. These investigations came to light on March 15, 2011 when Defendant 

UBS disclosed in its annual report that it had received subpoenas from the Securities and 

Exchange Commission, the Commodity Futures Trading Commission, and the 

Department of Justice, and a request for information from the Japanese Financial 

Supervisory Agency, relating to its interest rate submissions to the BBA.   According to 

UBS’s disclosure, the focus of the investigations is “whether there were improper 
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attempts by UBS, either acting on its own or together with others, to manipulate Libor at 

certain times.”   

73. Media reports indicate that in addition to Defendant UBS, Defendants Bank 

of America, Citibank, and Barclays have also received subpoenas from regulators in 

connection with the investigation.  It has also been reported that all of the Libor panel 

members have received at least an informal request for information.    

74. The governmental investigations are believed to be on-going and reportedly 

are about a year old.   

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

75.  Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of itself and as a class action pursuant 

to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(a), (b)(2) and (b)(3) on behalf of all members of 

the following Class:  

All persons or entities (excluding governmental entities, Defendants, their 
subsidiaries and affiliates, and their co-conspirators) who purchased or sold 
Exchange Traded Libor-Based Derivatives during the period from January 1, 
2006, through December 31, 2009 (the “Class Period”). 
 
76. The Class is so numerous that the individual joinder of all members is 

impracticable.  Due to the nature of the trade and commerce involved, Plaintiff believes 

that the Class members number at least in the thousands and are geographically 

dispersed. 

77. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class 

because Plaintiff and all Class members sustained damages arising out of Defendants’ 

common course of conduct in violation of law as complained herein.  The injuries and 
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damages of each member of the Class were directly caused by Defendants’ wrongful 

conduct in violation of law as alleged herein.   

78. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class as the 

interests of Plaintiff are coincident with, and not antagonistic to, those of the Class.  In 

addition, Plaintiff is represented by counsel who are experienced and competent in the 

prosecution of complex class action and antitrust litigation. 

79. Questions of law and fact common to the members of the Class 

predominate over questions that may affect only individual members. Among the 

questions of law and fact common to the Class are: 

a. Whether Defendants and their co-conspirators engaged in an 

agreement, combination, or conspiracy to suppress, fix, maintain, or 

stabilize the Libor rate and prices of Exchange Traded Libor-Based 

Derivatives in violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1; 

b. Whether Defendants’ acts constituted a manipulation or unlawful 

act;   

c. Whether Defendants manipulated the prices of Exchange Traded 

Libor-Based Derivatives to artificial levels in violation of the CEA;  

d. The character, extent, and duration of Defendants’ manipulation of 

Exchange Traded Libor-Based Derivatives;  

e. The identity of the participants and the acts performed by 

Defendants in furtherance of their unlawful conduct; 
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f. The effect of Defendants’ conduct on the prices of Exchange Traded 

Libor-Based Derivatives during the Class Period; 

g. Whether the conduct of Defendants and their co-conspirators, as 

alleged in this Complaint, caused injury to the business or property 

of Plaintiff and the other members of the Class; and 

h. The appropriate class-wide measure of damages. 

80. Class action treatment is superior to the alternatives for the fair and 

efficient adjudication of the controversy alleged herein.  Such treatment will permit a 

large number of similarly situated persons to prosecute their common claims in a single 

forum simultaneously, efficiently, and without the duplication of effort and expense that 

numerous individual actions would entail.  The prosecution of separate actions by 

individual members of the Class would create a risk of inconsistent or varying 

adjudications, establishing incompatible standards of conduct for Defendants.  No 

difficulties are likely to be encountered in the management of this class action that would 

preclude its maintenance as a class action, and no superior alternative exists for the fair 

and efficient adjudication of this controversy.  

81. Defendants have acted on grounds generally applicable to the entire Class, 

thereby making final injunctive relief or corresponding declaratory relief appropriate with 

respect to the Class as a whole. Prosecution of separate actions by individual members of 

the Class would create the risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications with respect to 

individual members of the Class that would establish incompatible standards of conduct 

for Defendants. 
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FRAUDULENT CONCEALMENT AND TOLLING 

82.  Defendants engaged in conduct that, by its nature, was inherently self-

concealing.  Defendants affirmatively, actively and fraudulently concealed their unlawful 

conduct from Plaintiff and the Class.  Defendants conducted their conspiracy in secret.  

Defendants publicly provided pretextual and false justifications regarding their role in 

setting the Libor rates and their true cost of borrowing.   

83. Contemporaneous sources show that Defendants’ misconduct was 

concealed.  Analysis and studies by industry groups connected to Defendants attempted 

to refute the claims made by market participants and the financial media that the Libor 

was too low.  These reports further served to conceal Defendants’ misreporting.   

84. Plaintiff did not discover, and could not have discovered through the 

exercise of reasonable diligence, that Defendants and their co-conspirators were violating 

the antitrust laws or the CEA  as alleged herein until shortly before this litigation was 

commenced. 

85. By virtue of such conduct by Defendants and their co-conspirators, and for 

other reasons, the running of any statute of limitations has been tolled and suspended 

with respect to any claims that Plaintiff and the other Class members have as a result of 

the unlawful conspiracy violations and conspiratorial conduct alleged in this Complaint. 

EFFECT ON U.S. COMMERCE 

86. Defendants were aware that their unlawful conduct in setting an artificially 

low Libor rate would have a direct, substantial, and reasonably foreseeable effect on the 

price of Exchange Traded Libor-Based Derivatives.   
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COUNT I 
Violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act 

87. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation 

set forth above. 

88. Beginning at least as early as January 1, 2006 and continuing through at 

least December 31, 2009, the exact dates being unknown to Plaintiff, Defendants and 

their co-conspirators entered into a continuing contract, combination or conspiracy in 

restraint of trade to artificially lower, fix, maintain, and/or stabilize the Libor rate and 

price of Exchange Traded Libor-Based Derivatives, in violation of Section 1 of the 

Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. §1. 

89. The contract, combination or conspiracy has resulted in an agreement, 

understanding or concerted action between and among Defendants in furtherance of 

which Defendants fixed, lowered, maintained, and/or stabilized the Libor rate and price 

of Exchange Traded Libor-Based Derivatives.  Such contract, combination, or conspiracy 

constitutes a per se violation of the federal antitrust laws and is, in any event, an 

unreasonable and unlawful restraint of trade. 

90. Defendants’ contract, combination, agreement, understanding or concerted 

action with the co-conspirators occurred in or affected interstate commerce. Defendants’ 

unlawful conduct was through mutual understandings, combinations or agreements by, 

between and among Defendants and other unnamed co-conspirators. These other co-

conspirators have either acted willingly or, due to coercion, unwillingly in furtherance of 

the unlawful restraint of trade alleged herein. 
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91.  During the Class Period, Defendants possessed market power in the market 

for the purchase and sale of Exchange Traded Libor-Based Derivatives. 

92. As a proximate result of the Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Plaintiff and 

Class members have suffered injury in that the value of Exchange Traded Libor-Based 

Derivatives they owned were less than they should have been, had the Libor been 

accurately calculated and stated. 

93. Plaintiff and members of the Class are entitled to treble damages for the 

violations of the Sherman Act alleged herein.   

COUNT II 
Violation of the Commodity Exchange Act 

94. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation 

set forth above. 

95. By their intentional misconduct as alleged herein, Defendants each violated 

Section 9(a)(2) of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 13(a)(2), and caused prices of Exchange Traded 

Libor-Based Derivatives to be artificial, including artificially suppressed, during the 

Class Period. 

96. Defendants’ manipulation of the Libor constituted market manipulation of 

the prices of Exchange Traded Libor-Based Derivatives in violation of Sections 9(a) and 

22(a) of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. §§ 13(a) and 25(a). 

97. Defendants’ conduct deprived Plaintiff and the other Class members of a 

lawfully operating market during the Class Period. 
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98. Plaintiff and the other Class members that traded in Exchange Traded 

Libor-Based Derivatives during the Class Period transacted their trades at artificial and 

unlawful prices resulting from Defendants’ misconduct in violation of the CEA, and as a 

direct result, sustained injury and suffered damages. 

99. Plaintiff and the other Class members are each entitled to damages for the 

violations of the CEA alleged herein. 

COUNT III 
Vicarious Liability for Violation of the Commodity Exchange Act 

100. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation 

set forth above. 

101. Each Defendants is liable under Section 2(a)(1)(B) of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 

2(a)(1)(B), for the manipulative acts of their agents, representatives, and/or other persons 

acting for them in the scope of their employment. 

COUNT IV 
Aiding and Abetting Violation of the Commodity Exchange Act 

102. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation 

set forth above. 

103. Defendants knowingly aided, abetted, counseled, induced and/or procured 

the violations of the CEA alleged herein. Defendants did so knowing of each others’ 

manipulation of the Libor, and willfully intended to assist these manipulations, which 

resulted in Exchange Traded Libor-Based Derivatives trading at artificial prices during 

the Class Period, in violation of Section 22(a)(1) of the CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 25(a)(1). 
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COUNT V 
Unjust Enrichment and Restitution 

 
104. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation 

set forth above. 

105. It would be inequitable for Defendants to be permitted to retain the benefit 

which Defendants obtained from their manipulative acts and at the expense of Plaintiff 

and members of the Class.  

106. Plaintiff and members of the Class are entitled to the establishment of a 

constructive trust impressed on the benefits to Defendants from their unjust enrichment 

and inequitable conduct.  

107. Alternatively or additionally, each Defendant should pay restitution or its 

own unjust enrichment to Plaintiff and members of the Class.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief and judgment, as follows: 

A. Declaring this action maintainable as a class action pursuant to the 

appropriate subsections of Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure, and designating Plaintiff as the Class representative and 

Plaintiff’s counsel as Class counsel; 

B. For a judgment awarding Plaintiff and the Class damages against 

Defendants for their violation of the Sherman Act, in an amount to 

be trebled in accordance with such law;  
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C. For a judgment awarding Plaintiff and the Class damages against 

Defendants for their violations of the CEA, together with 

prejudgment interest at the maximum  rate allowable by law;  

D. For a judgment awarding Plaintiff and the Class any and all sums of 

Defendants’ unjust enrichment; 

E. For an order impressing a constructive trust on Defendants’ unjust 

enrichment;  

F. For an award to Plaintiff and the Class of their costs of suit, 

including reasonable attorneys’ and experts’ fees; and  

G. For such other relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury on all claims so triable. 

DATED: July 13, 2011      Respectfully submitted, 

GUSTAFSON GLUEK PLLC 

s/Daniel E. Gustafson   
Daniel E. Gustafson (#202241) 
Daniel C. Hedlund (#258337) 
Michelle J. Looby (#0388166) 
650 Northstar East 
608 Second Avenue South 
Minneapolis, MN 55402 
Telephone: (612) 333-8844 
Facsimile: (612) 339-6622 
Email:  dgustafson@gustafsongluek.com    
             dhedlund@gustafsongluek.com 

  mlooby@gustafsongluek.com  
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W. Joseph Bruckner (#147758) 
LOCKRIDGE GRINDAL NAUEN P.L.L.P. 
100 Washington Avenue South, Suite 2200 
Minneapolis, MN 55401 
Telephone:   (612) 339-6900 
Facsimile:    (612) 339-0981 
Email: wjbruckner@locklaw.com 

 
 
 Charles S. Zimmerman (#0120054)  
 ZIMMERMAN REED, PLLP 
 1100 IDS Center 
 80 South 8th Street 
 Minneapolis, MN 55402 
 Telephone: (612) 341-0400 
 Facsimile: (612) 341-0844 
 Email: Charles.Zimmerman@zimmreed.com 

 
 

 Dianne M. Nast  
 RODANAST, P.C. 
 801 Estelle Drive 
 Lancaster, PA 17601 
 Telephone: (717) 892-3000 
 Facsimile: (717) 892-1200 
 Email: dnast@rodanast.com 

 
 

Kenneth A. Wexler 
 Edward A. Wallace 
 WEXLER WALLACE LLP 
 55 West Monroe St. 

Suite 3300 
Chicago, IL 60603 
Telephone: (312) 346-2222 
Facsimile: (312) 346-0022 

 Email: kaw@wexlerwallace.com 
      eaw@wexlerwallace.com 
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Michael L. Roberts 
 Roberts Law Firm 

20 Rahling Circle 
Little Rock, AR 72223 
Telephone: (501) 821-5575  
Facsimile: (501) 821-4474 
Email: mikeroberts@robertslawfirm.us 
 

 
  
         Counsel for Plaintiff and the Proposed Class 
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